From the Institute for Systems Neuroscience at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

# Multi-modal Parcellation of the Human Striatum: Functions, Clinical Relevance and its Specific Connectivity

Dissertation

to obtain the academic title of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Medical Sciences from the Faculty of Medicine at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

submitted by

Xiaojin Liu

(2021)

Als Inaugural-Dissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

gez.:

Dekan/in: Prof. Dr. Nikolaj Klöcker

Erstgutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Simon B. Eickhoff

Zweitgutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Dr. Svenja Caspers

# Parts of this work have been accepted and published:

1) <u>Liu X</u>, Eickhoff SB, Hoffstaedter F, Genon S, Caspers S, Reetz K, Dogan I, Eickhoff CR, Chen J, Caspers J, Reuter N, Mathys C, Aleman A, Jardri R, Riedl V, Sommer IE and Patil KR. Joint Multimodal Parcellation of the Human Striatum: Functions and Clinical Relevance. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 2020, 36(10): 1123-1136.

2) <u>Liu X</u>, Eickhoff SB, Caspers S, Wu J, Genon S, Hoffstaedter F, Mars RB, Sommer IE, Eickhoff CR, Chen J, Jardri R, Reetz K, Dogan I, Aleman A, Kogler L, Gruber O, Caspers J, Mathys C and Patil KR. Functional parcellation of human and macaque striatum reveals human-specific connectivity in the dorsal caudate. Accepted to publish in *NeuroImage*, 2021.

 Reuter N, Genon S, Masouleh SK, Hoffstaedter F, <u>Liu X</u>, Kalenscher T, Eickhoff SB and Patil KR.
CBPtools: a Python package for regional connectivity-based parcellation. *Brain Structure and Function*, 2020, 225: 1261-1275.

# Zusammenfassung

Das menschliche Striatum ist Bestandteil der subkortikalen Kerne und spielt für die kognitiven und motorischen Funktionen eine wichtige Rolle. Eine Dysfunktion des Striatums ist z.B. bei Parkinson (PD) oder Schizophrenie (SCZ) typisch. Es ist bekannt, dass das menschliche Striatum aus mehreren funktionell und strukturell divergierenden Subregionen besteht. Bisher wurden die Modalitäten jedoch unabhängig voneinander analysiert. Das Ausmaß der multimodalen konvergenten Organisation des Striatums bleibt noch unklar. Das Striatum von Menschen und Makaken weist eine breite Homologie auf, da es mit verschiedenen psychologischen- und Verhaltensfunktionen zusammenhängt. Die Untersuchung der funktionellen und strukturellen Unterschiede zwischen den striatalen Subregionen von Menschen und Makaken kann dazu beitragen, die evolutionäre Divergenz besser zu verstehen und herauszufinden, warum der Mensch für bestimmte neuropsychiatrische Erkrankungen anfällig ist. Bisher bleibt der Unterschied in der funktionellen Organisation des Striatums beim artenübergreifenden Vergleich noch unklar. Ziel dieser Dissertation war es, 1) die multimodale Organisation des menschlichen Striatums zu untersuchen, indem die funktionelle Konnektivität im Ruhezustand (RSFC), die probabilistische Diffusionstraktographie (PDT) und die strukturelle Kovarianz (SC) miteinander verbunden und ihre strukturelle Atrophie in Bezug auf PD und SCZ untersucht werden. 2) Die striatalen Subregionen von Menschen und Makaken anhand ihrer homologen kortiko-striatalen Konnektivität zu vergleichen; und 3) eine standardisierte Toolbox CBPtools für die connectivity-based parcellation (CBP) Analyse einzuführen. In Studie 1 zeigten sich konvergente Cluster im dorsalen, dorsolateralen, rostralen, ventralen und kaudalen Striatum. Während sich bei PD und SCZ eine signifikante strukturelle Atrophie im rostralen und ventralen Striatum zeigte, war für PD eine Atrophie im dorsolateralen Striatum spezifisch. In Studie 2 wurde außerdem durch einen Vergleich zwischen verschiedenen Arten eine ungleiche kortiko-striatale RSFC innerhalb des dorsalen Caudats nachgewiesen. Darüber hinaus wurde eine abnormale RSFC nicht nur zwischen dorsalem Caudat, sondern auch zwischen rostralem Caudat, ventralem, zentralem und kaudalem Putamen sowie weit verbreiteten kortikalen Regionen bei PD- und SCZ-Patienten gefunden. Zusammenfassend deckte diese Dissertation eine modalübergreifende konvergente Organisation des menschlichen Striatums auf, mit der die strukturelle und funktionelle Variabilität bei Alterung und Krankheiten untersucht werden kann. Außerdem liefert sie Hinweise darauf, dass Anomalien im dorsalen Caudat mit Menschen-spezifischer Konnektivität zu neuropsychiatrischen Störungen beim Menschen beitragen könnten.

# **Summary**

The human striatum is a part of subcortical nuclei and plays an important role in both cognitive and motor functions. Its dysfunction has been implicated in the pathophysiology of various disorders, including Parkinson's disease (PD) and schizophrenia (SCZ). The human striatum is known to be composed of several functionally and structurally divergent subregions. However, previous studies independently investigated its functional and structural parcellations, the extent of multi-modal convergent organization of the striatum remains unclear. Also, human and macaque striatum have a wide homology because in both the striatum is related to several psychological and behavior functions. Investigating the functional and structural differences between human and macaque striatal subregions may help us to understand the evolutionary divergence and reveal why human is vulnerability to some neuropsychiatric diseases. So far, the difference in functional organization of the striatum with crossspecies comparison is still unclear. In this dissertation, we aimed to 1) investigate the multi-modal organization of the human striatum by jointly analyzing the resting-state functional connectivity (RSFC), probabilistic diffusion tractography (PDT), and structural covariance (SC) and examine the structural atrophy of ensuing parcels in PD and SCZ; 2) compare human and macaque striatal subregions according to their homologous cortico-striatal connectivity; and 3) introduced a standardized toolbox 'CBPtools' for connectivity-based parcellation (CBP) analysis. In study 1 we found convergent clusters in the dorsal, dorsolateral, rostral, ventral and caudal striatum and observed significant structural atrophy in the rostral and ventral striatum common to both PD and SCZ, and atrophy specifically attributable to PD in the dorsolateral striatum. In study 2, dissimilar cortico-striatal RSFC within the dorsal caudate was detected through cross-species comparison. In addition, abnormal RSFC was found not only between dorsal caudate, but also between rostral caudate, ventral, central and caudal putamen and widespread cortical regions for both PD and SCZ patients. In sum, this dissertation revealed a crossmodal convergent organization of the human striatum that can be used to investigate the structural and functional variability in aging and diseases; and provided a testable hypothesis that abnormalities in dorsal caudate with human-specific connectivity may contribute to human neuropsychiatric disorders.

# List of abbreviations

ARI	adjusted rand index	PRIME-DE	PRIMatE Data Exchange
BOLD	blood oxygenation level dependent	ROI	region of interest
CBP	connectivity-based parcellation	RSFC	resting-state functional
CDC	context-dependent clustering		connectivity
DMN	default mode network	SC	structural covariance
FEF	frontal eye fields	SCZ	schizophrenia
GM	gray matter	SMA	supplementary motor area
нс	healthy controls	VBM	voxel-based morphometry
INDI	International Neuroimaging Data-	WM	white matter
	sharing Initiative	dMRI	diffusion magnetic resonance
IPC	inferior parietal cortex		imaging
M1	primary motor cortex	fMRI	functional magnetic
MACM	meta-analytic connectivity		resonance imaging
	modeling	preSMA	presupplementary motor area
PCC	posterior cingulate cortex	sMRI	structural magnetic resonance
PD	Parkinson's disease		imaging
PDT	probabilistic diffusion		
	tractography		

# Table of Contents

1 Introduction1
1.1 The human striatum: structure, connectivity, function and clinical relevance1
<b>1.2 Functional and structural parcellation of the human striatum</b>
1.2.1 CBP: history and applications
1.2.2 Functional parcellation of the striatum
1.2.3 Structural parcellation of the striatum4
1.2.4 Multi-modal parcellation of the human striatum
1.2.5 Investigating functional and clinical relevance of striatal subregions
1.3 Functional organization of the human and macaque striatum
1.4 Striatal subregions with human-specific connectivity and their clinical relevance8
1.5 <i>CBPtools</i> : a Python-based software package
1.6 Ethics protocols
1.7 Aim of the studies
2 Liu X, Eickhoff SB, Hoffstaedter F, et al. Joint Multi-modal Parcellation of the Human
Striatum: Functions and Clinical Relevance. Neuroscience Bulletin, 2020, 36(10): 1123-
113611
3 Liu X, Eickhoff SB, Caspers S, et al. Functional parcellation of human and macaque
striatum reveals human-specific connectivity in the dorsal caudate. Accepted to publish
in <i>NeuroImage</i> , 2021
4 Reuter N, Genon S, Masouleh SK, et al. CBPtools: a Python package for regional
connectivity-based parcellation. Brain Structure and Function, 2020, 225: 1261-127513
5 Discussion
5.1 Topographical organization of the human striatum14
5.2 Convergent and divergent fundamental organization of the striatum15
5.3 Functional characterization of striatal clusters15

5.4 Disease-related structural differences in striatal clusters	16
5.5 Functional parcellation of the human and macaque striatum	16
5.6 Cross-species comparison based on homologous cortico-striatal RSFC	17
5.7 Clinically relevant cortico-striatal RSFC alteration in striatal clusters	19
5.8 Performing CBP analysis with <i>CBPtools</i>	20
5.9 Conclusions	21
6 References	23

# **1** Introduction

My dissertation will first focus on multi-modal parcellation of the human striatum based on three modalities: resting-state functional connectivity (RSFC), probabilistic diffusion tractography (PDT), and structural covariance (SC). To reveal both the functional and clinical relevance of these striatal clusters, we investigated their functional characterization, and probed whether structural alterations of these striatal clusters differ between Parkinson's disease (PD) and schizophrenia (SCZ). In this part, we provided a multi-modal parcellation scheme for the human striatum, which can be employed in investigating the functional and structural variation of striatal subregions for development, aging, and diseases. My dissertation will also compare functional parcellation of the human and macaque striatum, to reveal evolutionary divergence of the striatum and may improve our knowledge on why human vulnerability to PD and SCZ. In addition, to help researchers applying the connectivity-based parcellation (CBP) to investigate functional and structural organization of the brain regions, we developed an open source, Python-based software package, called '*CBPtools*'. In summary, my work uncovered a convergent multi-modal functional and structural organization of the human striatum across three different imaging modalities, investigated their functions and clinical relevance, and revealed a functional striatal cluster with evolutionary divergence between human and macaque.

#### 1.1 The human striatum: structure, connectivity, function and clinical relevance

The human striatum is a brain subcortical structure located close to the lateral ventricle and is also the primary input structure of the basal ganglia. During the embryological development, the striatum originates from the ventral telencephalon and it gradually develops into two nuclei, the caudate and the putamen, incompletely separated by the internal capsule (Mai and Paxinos 2011; Alheid et al. 1990). Cytologically, the caudate and putamen are considered identical and include two types of cells: small achromatic neurons and large multipolar neurons (Namba 1957; Carpenter 1981). Anatomical and physiological findings from primates suggest that the striatum receives diverse afferent projection from cerebral cortex, which then through the thalamus are projected back to the cerebral cortex forming multiple partial parallel anatomical loops (Alexander et al. 1986; Alexander and Crutcher 1990). Particularly, the putamen mainly receives afferent projections from motor and somatosensory cortex, while the projections from frontal eye fields, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and lateral orbitofrontal

cortex respectively terminate in the body parts of, dorsolateral, and ventromedial caudate. Moreover, the ventral striatum receives diverse afferent projection not only from anterior cingulate area, but also from the "limbic" structures. These multiple loops also provide an anatomical basis for the functional diversity of the striatum, indicating its topographical organization and functional heterogeneity. Generally, the striatum is well known for its prominent role in diverse cognitive functions and goal-directed behaviors, such as working memory, reward and reinforcement learning (Lewis et al. 2004; Pauli et al. 2016; Haber et al. 2006). Through receiving diverse afferent projection from cerebral cortex and forming multiple cortico-striatal circuits, the striatum mediates individual motivations and emotions that drive planning, cognition that generate appropriate strategy, and finally, the execution of the action (Haber 2003; Nakano et al. 2000).

Given its functional importance in cognitive, emotional, executive and motor functions, the human striatum has been implicated in the pathophysiology of several diseases. Among them, PD (Owen et al. 1992; Zhai et al. 2018) and SCZ (Li et al. 2020; Simpson et al. 2010) are two major, socio-economically relevant disorders that are clearly linked to the dysfunction of the striatum. Currently, the most common view is that the degeneration of dopaminergic nigrostriatal neurons significantly contribute to the pathology of PD (Dauer and Przedborski 2003). This degeneration may lead to abnormal depletion of striatal dopamine. Given dopamine as a crucial neurotransmitter with an important role in control of body movements, this decreased level of striatal dopamine and its receptors contributes to irregular movements, a significant clinical symptom in PD patients. In SCZ, both hyper and hypo dopamine activity are related to different symptoms (Brisch et al. 2014). In particular, the increase in subcortical release of dopamine includes the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, such as hallucinations and delusions. Moreover, recent findings suggest that the dopaminergic dysfunction (hyperactivity) within the nigrostriatal pathways significantly contribute to the pathology of SCZ (McCutcheon et al. 2019).

In sum, as an important component of the subcortical nuclei, the striatum receives diverse afferent projection from cerebral cortex and forms several cortico-striatal pathways that are related to cognitive functions and goal-directed behaviors. Dopaminergic dysfunction in the striatum significantly contribute to several movement and psychiatric disorders, including in Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia.

#### **1.2 Functional and structural parcellation of the human striatum**

The striatum receives topographic projections from the cerebral cortex, which are further reflected in its structural and functional subdivisions, i.e., parcellations. In-vivo and non-invasive neuroimaging technique, such as resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), diffusion MRI (dMRI) and structural MRI (sMRI), have been widely used to investigate the functional and structural parcellation of the striatum for decades. These neuroimaging techniques provide different connectivity measurement that captures modality-specific structural or functional neurobiological features of brain organization. Recently, exploiting the differentiated nature of connectivity patterns for individual brain regions, forming distinct connectivity fingerprints for each module, has prompted the rapidly developing family of CBP approaches in neuroimaging research (Eickhoff et al. 2015; Eickhoff et al. 2018). This section will introduce the CBP approach with its methodological details, and then review previous functional and structural parcellation of the human striatum.

#### **1.2.1 CBP: history and applications**

Regional specialization and functional integration are the two fundamental organizational principles of the human brain which are closely related to each other, as functionally specialized brain regions are likewise characterized by a distinct set of connectivity. Accordingly, CBP divides a predefined brain region (i.e., region of interest, ROI) into distinct subregion, i.e. a group of voxels, based on the connectivity profiles of individual voxels within that ROI [for review, see Eickhoff et al. (2015)]. Historically, CBP was first performed based on whole brain white matter (WM) structural (fiber) connectivity derived from dMRI (Behrens et al. 2003; Wiegell et al. 2003). This structural connectivity is usually examined by using probabilistic diffusion tractography (PDT). Following this success, similar approaches were applied to investigate the functional organization of a given ROI by estimating restingstate functional connectivity (RSFC) (Kim et al. 2010), or to investigate the correlation between functionally related subregions and their changed gray matter (GM) volume as estimated by structural covariance (SC) (Liu et al. 2015). Each of these modalities (PDT, RSFC and SC) represents a different aspect of brain connectivity: PDT estimates fiber pathways as a proxy for anatomical connectivity between brain regions by delineating the probability that tracts originating at a particular voxel reach any particular voxel in the brain (Jones 2008; Johansen-Berg and Rushworth 2009). The likelihood of passing through each voxel in the white matter then provides the connectivity profile of a particular ROI

voxel. RSFC delineates correlation of time series of blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) signal between distant brain regions in the absence of an externally purported task. This is possible because inter-neuronal communication is constantly occurring and is reflected by ongoing fluctuations of activity, which can be measured using fMRI. SC estimates group-level (across subjects) correlation between GM volume of each voxel in a given ROI and that of other voxels in the whole-brain.

In CBP studies, through the use of clustering algorithms, voxels within a given ROI are grouped into sub-groups or subregions based on the similarity of their connectivity pattern with the whole-brain. In previous applications, *k*-means clustering analysis was the probably most popular clustering approach and has been successfully used in many studies for performing CBP on different modalities and different brain regions (Plachti et al. 2019; Genon et al. 2018b; Ray et al. 2015; Reuter et al. 2020; Chase et al. 2020; Hartwigsen et al. 2019; Pauli et al. 2016; Jung et al. 2014; Crippa et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2020). It divides a given ROI into a preselected number (*k*) of non-overlapping clusters (Nanetti et al. 2009). In addition, there are many other clustering algorithms such as hierarchical and spectral clustering, but it is difficult to know beforehand which algorithm is optimal (Thirion et al. 2014).

#### **1.2.2 Functional parcellation of the striatum**

Several previous studies (Janssen et al. 2015; Jung et al. 2014; Choi et al. 2012; Jaspers et al. 2017) have investigated the functional organization of the striatum using CBP. Generally, these studies first estimated the RSFC between each striatal voxel and other voxels of the whole-brain (or specified cortical functional networks), and then gathered those striatal voxels showing similar connectivity pattern to generate a striatal subregion by using clustering algorithms. We summarize the results from several previous studies that estimated RSFC to parcel the striatum in the supplementary materials of Study 1 (Liu et al. 2020).

# **1.2.3 Structural parcellation of the striatum**

According to cortico-striatal fiber connectivity, previous studies (Tziortzi et al. 2013; Draganski et al. 2008) have investigated structural parcellation of the striatum based on PDT. These studies estimated the probabilistic fiber connectivity between each striatal voxel and different cortical regions. The striatal voxel showing maximum probability of fiber connectivity to the same cortical regions were gathered into the same striatal subregion. We also summarize previous studies using the PDT to investigate the

structural parcellation of the striatum in the supplementary materials of Study 1 (Liu et al. 2020).

#### 1.2.4 Multi-modal parcellation of the human striatum

Previous studies divided the striatum into subregions based on a single neuroimaging modality (RSFC or PDT). However, it's still unclear to what extent these subdivisions converge or diverge across different neuroimaging modalities. In Study 1, we investigated the multi-modal organization of the striatum by jointly clustering connectivity from three neuroimaging modalities: RSFC, PDT and SC. The aim of this multi-modal analysis was to provide a holistic "map" of the striatum reflecting fundamental biological heterogeneity and homogeneity in its subdivisions.

A primary challenge for obtaining multi-modal striatal parcellation is combining the subregions revealed by the connectivity pattern due to each modality. One possible way is to use a post-hoc combination from the uni-modal maps. Several previous studies have used this method to examine the multi-modal organization of brain regions, such as hippocampus (Plachti et al. 2019), insula (Kelly et al. 2012) and nucleus accumbens (Xia et al. 2017). However, a post-hoc combination does not explicitly model the dependencies among different modalities, which may induce a sub-optimal multi-modal parcellation (Gabasova et al. 2017). To address this issue, we employed the context-dependent clustering (CDC) algorithm (Gabasova et al. 2017) which is an integrative clustering approach that can model the heterogeneity across the contexts or modalities, i.e. RSFC, PDT and SC. Unlike other integrative clustering methods, CDC does not assume a shared cluster structure across all the contexts, making it a good choice for multi-modal CBP. More detailed information about the application of the CDC algorithm in multi-modal CBP can be found in the Materials and Methods [Multi-modal Connectivity-Based Parcellation (CBP)] of Study 1 (Liu et al. 2020). Through applying CDC algorithm, we identified functional and structural convergent subregions of the human striatum.

# 1.2.5 Investigating functional and clinical relevance of striatal subregions

We adopted the "behavioral domain" and "paradigm class" from BrainMap database (<u>http://www.brainmap.org/index.html</u>) (Eickhoff et al. 2011; Genon et al. 2018a) to investigate the relevant functions of these convergent striatal subregions. This database includes more than 17,047 manually-curated neuroimaging experiments. For each experiment, the coordinates of peak voxels of different active brain regions from specific psychological conditions has been recorded. The behavioral

domains contain the categories and subcategories of cognition, emotion, action, perception and interoception. The paradigm classes categorize which specific task is employed. The "forward inference" and "reverse inference" were used to characterize the functional profile of the striatal subregions (Liu et al. 2020).

The PD and SCZ show both common and differing pathological neurodegenerative features within the striatum (Seeman and Niznik 1990; Moustafa and Gluck 2011), however, little is known about whether structural alterations in these two diseases are specifically attributable to individual striatal modules and whether such alterations differ between PD and SCZ. To investigate this, we used voxel-based morphometry (VBM) to examine whether structural (GM volume) alterations in our convergent striatal subdivisions differ between PD and SCZ. In sum, Study 1 uncovered a multi-modal convergent organization of the striatum and examined both the functional and clinical relevance of those subdivisions.

# 1.3 Functional organization of the human and macaque striatum

In fact, classical model regarding to the functional and structural organization of the striatum mainly comes from anatomical and physiological findings in monkeys (Alexander and Crutcher 1990; Alexander et al. 1986). This prior knowledge from non-human primates and subsequent neuroimaging findings in humans, suggests that the human striatum is potentially divided into several structural and functional subregions based on multiple cortico-striatal circuits (Choi et al. 2012; Leh et al. 2007; Tziortzi et al. 2014). For example, the head circuits of the caudate is related to short-term valuation, while the tail circuits of the caudate is involved in long-term valuation (Hikosaka et al. 2014). Numerous studies in macaques revealed both the caudate and the putamen play an important role in reward guided behavior and learning (Apicella et al. 2011; Hassani et al. 2001; Watanabe et al. 2003; Histed et al. 2009; Hikosaka et al. 2014; Hikosaka et al. 1989) and the structure and function of this cortico-striatal reward circuitry is conserved across humans and non-human primates (Haber and Knutson 2010). Although animal models provide important perspective of neural functions and structures, the findings in region-specific divergences may reveal human-specific features potentially associated with human-specific neuropsychiatric diseases. A direct comparison of brain organization between human and non-human primate can elucidate differentiation of brain regions and shed light on the process of species evolution.

Recently, with the application of non-invasive neuroimaging technique in non-human primate researches, comparison of human and macaque striatum have largely focused on the cortico-striatal circuits by using PDT from dMRI (Choi et al. 2017; Neggers et al. 2015; Xia et al. 2019). For example, Neggers et al. (2015) applied a comparison of cortico-striatal between cortical motor areas and the striatum between human and macaque by applying PDT. Structural connectivity between primary motor cortex (M1) and posterior part of the caudate and putamen was found in macaque. The frontal eye fields (FEF) connected to the head of the caudate and anterior putamen was also found in macaque. For human, the FEF and M1 largely connected to posterior putamen but only a small part of the caudate. Xia et al. (2019) applied PDT to locate the ventral striatum of human and macaque according to the cortico-striatal fiber connectivity. Next, they investigated the differences in connectivity of the ventral striatum between human and macaque. These results suggested that structural connectivity of the ventral striatum between human and macaque was dissimilar.

Although previous findings have provided us rich information about cortico-striatal structural connectivity of the human and macaque, there is still unclear regarding to the whole-brain RSFC of the macaque striatum and its parcellation that differ from human. As mention in section *1.2.1 CBP: history and applications*, RSFC estimate correlation of time series from BOLD fMRI signal, which reflects the temporal dependency of neuronal activation patterns between different brain regions [for review, see Van Den Heuvel and Pol (2010)]. This measurement has been widely applied in human studies (Barnes et al. 2010; Jung et al. 2014; Janssen et al. 2015; Jaspers et al. 2017), to investigate intrinsic neuronal activation pattern of striatum and reveal functional organization of striatal subregion. But how similar or different functional parcellation between human and macaque striatum are still unclear. Such a cross-species analysis may reveal the similarities in functional organization of the human brain compared to our phylogenetically close relatives, and reveal if this organization is unique to humans.

A growing number of studies are using MRI to compare functional and structural organization of the brain between humans and macaques (Vanduffel et al. 2014; Mars et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2019). However, previous studies usually have a very small numbers of non-human primate subjects (less than 10). During the past 20 years, the technological and methodological advances accelerate the development of the non-human primate studies, but neuroimaging date collection was limited by necessary facilities and capabilities in different research institute. Fortunately, to addresses these challenges, the PRIMAtE Data Exchange (PRIME-DE) recently aggregated independently acquired non-human primate MRI datasets

and openly shared them by the International Neuroimaging Data-sharing Initiative (INDI) (Milham et al. 2020; Milham et al. 2018). The PRIME-DE may promote the progress of the comparative MRI, and allows us to perform the large-sample and multi-modal comparative MRI analysis.

In Study 2, we first investigated functional parcellation of the human and macaque striatum based on RSFC modality to intuitively show different and similar striatal subregions between human and macaque.

# 1.4 Striatal subregions with human-specific connectivity and their clinical relevance

It remains an open question whether the striatal organization is unique to humans and if it is involved in complex neuropsychiatric disorders which are often specific to humans. Generally, animal models, especially rodent and macaque models (Castner et al. 2004; Cenci and Crossman 2018), provide feasible pathological research, medicine treatment and clinical experiments for these neuropsychiatric diseases (Choudhury and Daadi 2018; Qiu et al. 2019). However, such neuropsychiatric diseases primarily affect human and are influenced by various factors, for example, personality, family, and social environment. It is hard to include such complex characteristics and social community that specific to human into the animal models. Hence, it is necessary to examine whether these functional and structural abnormalities of the striatal subregions that is unique to human are related to neuropsychiatric diseases. Previous studies have shown functional and structural abnormalities of striatal subregions between patients (with PD and SCZ) and healthy controls (HC) (He et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2016a). However, whether these striatal subregions are related to human-specific cortico-striatal connectivity compared to macaque is still unclear. In Study 2, we future identified those striatal subregions whose cortico-striatal RSFC is human-specific compared to macaque, and then examined difference in RSFC and GM volume between patients (with PD and SCZ) and HC to reveal the clinical relevance for these striatal subregions.

# 1.5 CBPtools: a Python-based software package

Although CBP have been widely used to investigate the structural and functional organization of different brain regions based on their long-range connectivity, there is no standardized software for performing this method. Currently, CBP is accessible only in some research groups who develop their own tools in the world. This may lead to discrepant parcellation results between different laboratories adopting their own CBP software. Meanwhile, no standardized guidelines may induce different analysis steps when applied CBP in current studies, making difficult to compare these parcellation results and

interpretations. To address these issues, in Study 3, I participated in developing an open-source software package using Python (version 3.5+): *CBPtools* allowing researchers to perform an extensive CBP analysis for a given ROI. It also supports two modalities, RSFC based on fMRI data and PDT based on dMRI data as well as custom connectivity matrices. Researchers can set the analysis parameters according to the motivation of the study. Given more and more studies require efficient data analysis when employing a large number of subjects, *CBPtools* also supports parallel processing. For visualization, two kinds of output from *CBPtools* include textual matrices and graphical parcellation results.

In sum, in Study 3, we provide an overview of analysis steps in CBP, and develop a simple plug-andplay, open-source software package for researcher to perform CBP. For the application, we examined the functional and structural parcellation of three brain regions: presupplementary motor area and supplementary motor area (preSMA-SMA), amygdala and insula by using the *CBPtools*. We think this guidelines and tool can help researcher "Quick Start" in applying CBP. In addition, we hope this tool can contribute to promote reproducible and comparable parcellation results in CBP field.

# **1.6 Ethics protocols**

"The ethics protocols were approved by the Ethics Committee of Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf (4039, 4096 and 2018-317-RetroDEuA). For PRIME-DE, all experimental procedures were approved by local ethics boards prior to any data collection. UK macaque datasets were obtained with Home Office approval and abide with the European Directive on the protection of animals used in research (2010/63/EU). For the NIN Primate Brain Bank/Utrecht University dataset, post-mortem specimens were loaned from the Netherlands Institute of Neuroscience Primate Brain Bank (PBB; http://www.primatebrainbank.org/). No individuals were sacrificed for PBB brain issue. Instead, brains were collected from individuals that died from natural causes or that had to be humanely euthanized for reasons unrelated to the tissue collection (Milham et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2020)."

# 1.7 Aim of the studies

The aims of my project include; 1) joint multi-modal parcellation to identify functionally and structurally convergent striatal subregions (Study 1); 2) investigating the subregions for their functions, and structural alterations (GM volume) between patients (with PD and SCZ) and HC (Study 1); 3)

investigating functional parcellation of human and macaque striatum (Study 2); 4) comparing corticostriatal RSFC of human and macaque striatal subregions to identify human-specific clusters, as well as examining difference in RSFC and GM volume of these striatal subregions between patients (with PD or SCZ) and HC (Study 2); 5) developing an open-source software package for CBP analysis (Study 3).

In sum, this project provided a holistic convergent view of human striatal functional and structural organization, compared human and macaque striatal subregions, and examined their cortico-striatal connectivity, revealed clinical relevance of the striatal subregions between patients (PD and SCZ) and HC. Also, with *CBPtools* we made CBP analysis easier which may promote further development of investigations of brain functional and structural organization.

# **Three publications:**

1) <u>Liu X</u>, Eickhoff SB, Hoffstaedter F, Genon S, Caspers S, Reetz K, Dogan I, Eickhoff CR, Chen J, Caspers J, Reuter N, Mathys C, Aleman A, Jardri R, Riedl V, Sommer IE and Patil KR. Joint Multimodal Parcellation of the Human Striatum: Functions and Clinical Relevance. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 2020, 36(10): 1123-1136.

2) <u>Liu X</u>, Eickhoff SB, Caspers S, Wu J, Genon S, Hoffstaedter F, Mars RB, Sommer IE, Eickhoff CR, Chen J, Jardri R, Reetz K, Dogan I, Aleman A, Kogler L, Gruber O, Caspers J, Mathys C and Patil KR. Functional parcellation of human and macaque striatum reveals human-specific connectivity in the dorsal caudate. Accepted to publish in *NeuroImage*, 2021, 235: 118006.

Reuter N, Genon S, Masouleh SK, Hoffstaedter F, <u>Liu X</u>, Kalenscher T, Eickhoff SB and Patil KR.
CBPtools: a Python package for regional connectivity-based parcellation. *Brain Structure and Function*, 2020, 225: 1261-1275.

### **5** Discussion

In Study 1 and Study 2 we applied unsupervised machine learning and statistical analysis techniques to multi-modal neuroimaging data to first investigate functional and structural organization of the human striatum, reveal functions and clinical relevance of the ensuing striatal subregions, and then to compare cortico-striatal RSFC between human and macaque striatal subregions. In Study 3, I took part in developing an open-source, python-based software *CBPtools* that can be used to investigate functional and structural parcellation of a given brain region. In detail, Study 1 uncovered a fundamental multi-modal organization of the human striatum, revealed these striatal subregions involving in emotion, cognition and execution functions, as well as their structural alterations between patients (with PD or SCZ) and HC. In Study 2, the focus was on comparing functional parcellation and cortico-striatal RSFC of striatal subregions between human and macaque, identifying the human-specific striatal clusters and examining abnormal RSFC and structural atrophy of these striatal clusters between patients (with PD or SCZ) and HC. In Study 3, we introduced the regular steps of CBP analysis and developed an open, Python-based software package: *CBPtools*, which can improve the application of CBP and better to understand functional and structural organization of our brain.

#### 5.1 Topographical organization of the human striatum

In Study 1, single-modal (RSFC, PDT and SC) and multi-modal parcellations results showed that the human striatum was divided into different subregions along the ventro-dorsal and rostro-caudal axes. At our final model (n = 7), we obtained the ventral striatal cluster that was in line with most previous findings in functional and structural parcellations of the striatum. We also found the rostral striatum including the anterior caudate and putamen was similar to previous functional parcellation of the striatum based on RSFC (Jung et al. 2014; Choi et al. 2012; Jaspers et al. 2017). In addition, previous structural parcellation of the striatum by using PDT found the dorsal striatum was split into three striatal subregions along the anterior-posterior axis (Tziortzi et al. 2013). However, in our study, we only found a complete dorsal striatal cluster across different modalities. This result may reflect functional and structural homogeneity of the dorsal striatum. In sum, our results showed a stable functionally and structurally convergent organization of the striatum along the ventro-dorsal and rostro-caudal axes.

### 5.2 Convergent and divergent fundamental organization of the striatum

In Study 1, we found not only convergence, but also divergence striatal subregions among three modalities at different levels of subdivision (n = 3-9). Generally, more divergent multi-modal clusters were found at lower levels (n = 3-6). When the solution levels increased (n = 7-9), more convergent striatal clusters across three modalities were observed. In detail, convergent striatal clusters including dorsal, dorsolateral, rostral, ventral, central and caudal (dorsal and ventral part) clusters for both left and right striatum were detected in multi-modal CBP analysis. Jarbo and Verstynen (2015) found functionally and structurally convergent organization of the rostral and dorsal striatum, because these two striatal subregions have similar convergent connectivity from orbitofrontal, lateral prefrontal, and posterior parietal cortices. In our study, using multi-modal CBP analysis, we reinforce these findings while further suggesting that the ventral, central and caudal clusters also exhibit a convergent functional and structural organization. Interestingly, we found more convergent striatal clusters with high level of subdivisions (n=7-9). At the coarser level, i.e. with few clusters, functional and structural parcellation may reflect different biological aspects of the striatum, in turn leading to divergent striatal subregions in multi-modal clustering. In addition, complex cortico-striatal projections form diverse integrative functional and structural circuits, which may induce more multi-modal convergent clusters at high level of subdivisions. Hence, more convergent functional and structural organization of the striatal subregions can be detected only at higher number of clusters in multi-modal CBP.

#### 5.3 Functional characterization of striatal clusters

We applied the "behavioral domain" and "paradigm class" in the BrainMap meta-data (http://www.brainmap.org/) to examine the functions of each striatal subregions in Study 1. Most previous functional or structural parcellation of the striatum show that a symmetric subdivision in the striatum (Tziortzi et al. 2013; Pauli et al. 2016; Jung et al. 2014; Janssen et al. 2015), we hence created the symmetrical convergent striatal subregions in our study. The functions of each symmetrical convergent striatal subregion involve emotion, cognition and execution. In detail, the dorsolateral striatum (ventral caudate and dorsal putamen) was associated with several cognitive functions. The rostral and ventral striatal clusters were involved in commonly engaged behavioral functions, such as cognition and emotion. The caudal striatum (dorsal and caudal parts) was related to action execution functions. Our findings were consistent with previous studies (Cardinal et al. 2002; Pessoa 2009), which

indicated that the ventral striatum is involved in motivation and emotion, and play an important role in initiating behaviors. The caudate has been suggested to be involved in relevant cognitive functions, such as working memory and procedural learning (Grahn et al. 2008; Robinson et al. 2012), while the putamen is related to motor control and action execution (Marchand et al. 2008; Marchand et al. 2013). The striatum receives diverse projects from cerebral cortex and form multiple functional and structural circuits, which is related to goal-directed behaviors (Grace et al. 2007; Haber 2003). Such complex behaviors may require motivation at the beginning, and then a series of mental processes to select different strategies, and finally leading to action execution. Each striatal subregion may involve different functions, but they cooperate to process goal-directed behaviors.

# 5.4 Disease-related structural differences in striatal clusters

In Study 1, we found significantly lower GM volume of the entire striatum in patients (with PD and SCZ) than HC. Previous studies have found striatal morphological differences in patients (with PD and SCZ) compared to HC (Jia et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2016b; Fornito et al. 2009; Torres et al. 2016). In our study, significantly lower GM volume of rostral and ventral striatum were found in both PD and SCZ patients, however, significant structural atrophy in dorsolateral striatum was specifically attributable to PD patients. This may due to difference in pathology of PD and SCZ that induce divergent morphological changes in some striatal subregions for PD and SCZ patients. That is, the degeneration of dopaminergic nigrostriatal neurons that may result in abnormal depletion of striatal dopamine (Dauer and Przedborski 2003) in PD, while increased striatal dopamine activity may thought to be a fundamental mechanism for SCZ. In addition, most antipsychotic treatments target the dopaminergic receptors in the striatum and influence striatal metabolism in SCZ (Holcomb et al. 1996). These treatments may as well indirectly induce alteration in striatal morphometry.

#### 5.5 Functional parcellation of the human and macaque striatum

In Study 2, we first investigated functional parcellation of human and macaque striatum by using RSFC. We found the human and macaque striatum were divided into caudate and putamen at the 2-cluster solution. Our parcellation results suggest a distinction of RSFC between the caudate and putamen for both human and macaque. As the caudate and the putamen in both human and macaque show anatomical division by the internal capsule, it is reasonable to find the caudate and putamen division based on their distinct RSFC.

Increasing 'divergent' striatal clusters between human and macaque in visually can be found from a low to high level of subdivision. For example, at 6-cluster solution, the human anterior caudate that was not split, while the macaque anterior caudate was further divided into a dorsolateral and ventromedial cluster. This suggests a more homogenous RSFC within the human anterior caudate than within macaque anterior caudate. For dorsolateral and ventromedial cluster of the macaque anterior caudate, a previous non-human primate study has shown that the dorsolateral part structurally connects with the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, while the ventromedial part connects with the lateral orbital frontal cortex (Alexander and Crutcher 1990). Our results are in line with and extend these previous findings, suggesting a convergent functional and structural connectivity of the anterior caudate in macaque.

In sum, we found different functional parcellations between human and macaque striatum using RSFC, especially concerning its anterior part. The human and macaque striatum connect to brain regions that may exhibit disproportionate volumetric differences during primate evolution, such as human prefrontal cortex (Carlén 2017; Smaers et al. 2017), hippocampus and amygdala (Barger et al. 2014). This may lead to differences in RSFC of several striatal subregions and reflect in differential functional parcellations of the striatum between human and macaque.

#### 5.6 Cross-species comparison based on homologous cortico-striatal RSFC

In study 2, we further compared human and macaque striatal parcellations based on their homologous cortico-striatal RSFC, this may directly reflect the extent of similarity and differences in striatal subregions between the two species. We found that the anterior caudate and the whole putamen showed similar cortico-striatal RSFC between human and macaque. Although the congruent relationship between RSFC and microstructural connectivity is still poorly understood (Moerel et al. 2014; van den Heuvel et al. 2015), our results may supplement previous studies showing similarities in the cellular and molecular composition and functions of these striatal subregions across species (Betarbet et al. 1997; Haber and Knutson 2010; Hardman et al. 2002; Lohrenz et al. 2016). For instance, the caudal putamen in humans is likely to be more associated with motor functions. Similar cortico-striatal RSFC of this region in humans and macaques may reflect a homologous mechanism and ability in primary action execution. This result was consistent with previous findings similar cortico-striatal motor circuits

relating to the caudal/lateral putamen across human, macaque and mouse (Balsters et al. 2020).

However, difference in the cortico-striatal RSFC of the dorsal caudate was observed in the two species. A previous study has found that the caudate integrates visual information and reward context during the decision-making (Doi et al. 2020). Specifically, functional connectivity between dorsal caudate and dlPFC was found in previous studies (Robinson et al. 2012; Choi et al. 2012), which is related to motivation generating, such as the expected reward for behaviors and the prediction of contingency in behavioral outcome (Haber and Knutson 2010; Balleine et al. 2007; Mucci et al. 2015). During anticipation of reward, the dorsal caudate shows activation in humans, which has been observed in reallife motivation (Mucci et al. 2015). According to the expected reward, it may mediate which action is selected and associate the actions with outcomes in the goal-directed behaviors. Several previous findings have showed that the cortico-striatal circuits in both human and non-human primates play an important role in reward and decision-making (Balleine et al. 2007; Burton et al. 2015; Hiebert et al. 2017; Hollerman et al. 1998). But different functions between subregions of the caudate, and in humans, the participation of the dorsal caudate in the goal-directed behaviors whether is influenced by complex social interactions which lead to altered functional and structural connectivity of the dorsal caudate between human and non-human primate is still unclear. Compared to non-human primate, humans encounter diverse rewards, more complex decision-making during the real social life (Santos and Rosati 2015). This may have induced altered neural activity of the dorsal caudate and exhibit difference in cortico-striatal RSFC of the dorsal caudate between human and macaque.

On one hand, similar cortico-striatal RSFC of the striatal subregions, including the anterior caudate and the whole putamen, between humans and macaques probably reflected their functional homology cross-species. On the other hand, we found the dorsal caudate showed difference in the cortico-striatal RSFC between human and macaque may due to evolution. More complex social life in humans than macaque, may affect the neural activity of the dorsal caudate during the evolution. We speculate that the dorsal caudate may become more strongly connected with the frontal regions, for increasing its involvement in social interactive functions.

## 5.7 Clinically relevant cortico-striatal RSFC alteration in striatal clusters

In Study 2, we investigated differences in cortico-striatal RSFC of striatal subregions between patients (with PD and SCZ) and HC.

Through postmortem tissue, previous studies have found both caudate and putamen to exhibit abnormal density of dendritic spines, which reflect the dysfunction of cortico-striatal connections in PD patients (Stephens et al. 2005). In-vivo neuroimaging studies further showed altered cortico-striatal RSFC in PD patients compared to HC (Hou et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2014; Helmich et al. 2010). We found significantly lower cortico-striatal RSFC between caudal putamen and inferior parietal cortex (IPC) in PD patients compared to HC in line with previous findings (Helmich et al. 2010). The degeneration of dopaminergic nigrostriatal neurons generally induces abnormal depletion of striatal dopamine. Especially, for PD, this abnormality in posterior striatum is expressed more heavily, which may induce dysfunction of motor control in PD patients. The caudal putamen is related to motor functions within the cortico-striatal circuitry. For IPC, Samuel et al. (1997) fond its hyperactivity was observed in PD patients during simple finger movement. This reflects PD patients may highly recruit this region when performed simple motor tasks. Decrease in cortico-striatal RSFC between caudal putamen and IPC may suggest dysfunction of motor network for PD patients, which commonly supports previous findings (Wu et al. 2009; Michely et al. 2015; Barbagallo et al. 2017). In addition, we found PD patients to show significantly increased RSFC between dorsal caudate (i.e., the human-specific cluster) and the IPC. This may due to the compensatory mechanism, because dopamine depletion in the caudate is relatively slight than that in putamen for PD patients. Hence, increase in RSFC between dorsal caudate and IPC may compensate for the severe dopamine depletion in the caudal putamen that have induced decreased RSFC with IPC.

The dysfunction of the striatum is considered as a fundamental element relating to different hypotheses of the etiology of SCZ (Howes and Kapur 2009; Fatemi and Folsom 2009). Similar to the pathophysiology of PD, dopamine dysregulation in the striatum also have been found in SCZ. In the current study, significant differences in cortico-striatal RSFC of all striatal clusters were found between SCZ patients and HC. Specifically, compared with HC, we found significantly stronger RSFC between dorsal caudate (i.e., the human-specific cluster) and widespread cortices, such as temporal, visual areas, secondary auditory cortex and primary somatosensory cortex. Previous studies (Kirino et al. 2019; Salvador et al. 2010) have reported increased RSFC between striatum and widespread cortices, such as

prefrontal, temporal and cingulate cortex, in SCZ patients. Such increased cortico-striatal RSFC may reflect disruption of segregation between subcortical and cortical functional networks in SCZ patients (Kirino et al. 2019). In addition, significantly increased RSFC between striatal clusters (dorsal caudate, ventral and central putamen) and posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) was found in SCZ patients compared to HC. The PCC is a critical region in the default mode network (DMN). Previous study has found hyperconnectivity between caudate and medial orbital prefrontal cortex (another region relating to the DMN) in SCZ patients (Salvador et al. 2010). Our results were in line with this previous finding and suggested that more widespread striatal regions were involved in disruption of DMN-striatum connectivity.

# 5.8 Performing CBP analysis with CBPtools

In study 3, we implemented a standardized pipeline *CBPtools* with regularly used steps of CBP analysis, and then applied the *CBPtools* to parcel the right presupplementary motor area and supplementary motor area (preSMA-SMA), amygdala and insula. The whole procedure in *CBPtools* is customizable. Through a configuration file that allows researchers to perform different processing for a given ROI. The parameters in *CBPtools* can be changed, which make reproduction and comparison of any parcellation work relatively easy. Researcher can quickly checked the parcellations results and generated the validity metrics by using the output from *CBPtools*. Also, researcher can applied these parcellation results for post hoc analysis, such as multi-modal integration of different cluster solutions. In addition, we provided the guidance for the user to select optimal parcellation results across all *k* cluster solutions. In the future, the *CBPtools* will support another two neuroimaging modalities, meta-analytic connectivity modeling (MACM) and SC, also adding an additional option that joint multi-modal CBP analysis. We hope this open *CBPtools* can improve the development of investigating functional and structural organization of the brain region in neuroscience field.

For the application of the *CBPtools*, we selected most popular and widely used functional (RSFC) and structural connectivity (PDT) modalities, as well as the *k*-mean clustering approach to examine the functional and structural parcellation of right preSMA-SMA, amygdala and insula.

Dividing the preSMA-SMA has been popularly used to verify CBP methods (Johansen-Berg et al. 2004; Klein et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2015), given it provides a gold standard and furthermore reflects the ability of the CBP procedure through comparing with the histological parcellations. The preSMA connects with the motor regions while the SMA connects with prefrontal regions, these changes in connecting with different cortical regions can be used to detect where the borders of these two regions are (Johansen-Berg et al. 2004). We found functional parcellation by using RSFC and structural parcellation by using PDT are both highly matched the histological parcellations of preSMA-SMA [adjusted rand index (ARI) of 0.71 for RSFC, and 0.76 for PDT]. These results suggested that we can assess histological reproducibility of the preSMA-SMA by using our *CBPtools*.

Compared with simple parcellation of the preSMA-SMA, previous studies found different optimal cluster solutions for the parcellation of the insula: from 2-cluster solution (Cauda et al. 2011), 3-cluster solution (Deen et al. 2011), 4-cluster solutions (Kurth et al. 2010) to various solutions (Kelly et al. 2012). These differences may due to relatively small sample size, difficulties for inter-subject alignment, variability in methods were used between different research groups (Reuter et al. 2020). In our study, we found 2-cluster solution that dividing the insula into anterior and posterior subdivisions, is stable for both functional and structural parcellation. Whether this solution is neurobiologically optimal should be investigated in the future.

We also found 2-cluster solution is optimal for the functional and structural parcellation of the amygdala. The amygdala was divided into dorso-ventral subdivision by using RSFC. This result was in line with previous findings of (Mishra et al. 2014) showing similar subdivision along the dorso-ventral axis. Different from functional parcellation, the amygdala was split into medial and lateral subdivisions by using PDT. In previous studies, Solano-Castiella et al. (2010) and Fan et al. (2016) also divided the amygdala along the medio-lateral axis at 2-cluster solution. Although existing divergence between functional and structural parcellation of the amygdala, whether special convergent subregion of amygdala can be detected by using multi-modal analysis should be examined in the future.

#### **5.9 Conclusions**

This dissertation first revealed a convergent functional and structural organization of the human striatum by using a multi-modal CBP approach. The dorsolateral striatum was associated with cognition, the rostral and ventral striatum were related to emotion and cognition separately, while the caudal striatum (dorsal and ventral parts) was involved in action execution functions. Common structural atrophy (GM volume) in the rostral and ventral striatum were found for PD and SCZ, but the structural atrophy in the dorsolateral striatum was specifically attributable to PD. Next, based on functional CBP, we revealed that the human striatum constitutes dorsal, dorsomedial, and rostral caudate and ventral, central, and caudal putamen, while the macaque striatum was split into dorsal, and rostral caudate and rostral, and caudal putamen. We found dissimilar cortico-striatal RSFC of the dorsal caudate between humans and macaques, which suggesting its connectivity to be human-specific. Also, abnormal RSFC of this striatal cluster with widespread cortical regions was found in both PD and SCZ, but GM difference in this striatal cluster was observed only in PD. These results revealed shared and human-specific RSFC of striatal clusters reinforcing the complex functional organization the striatum. In addition, we developed an open source, Python-based software package (i.e., *CBPtools*) may help researchers to investigate functional and structural organization of the brain regions. In sum, this dissertation mainly revealed the multi-modal convergent organization of the human striatum, these striatal clusters can be applied in investigating both structural and functional variability for aging and diseases. Meanwhile, we investigated functional parcellation of the striatum with cross-species comparison and suggested abnormalities in dorsal caudate may be associated with human neuropsychiatric disorders.

# **6** References

- Alexander GE, Crutcher MD (1990) Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: neural substrates of parallel processing. Trends in Neurosciences 13 (7):266-271
- Alexander GE, DeLong MR, Strick PL (1986) Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annual Review of Neuroscience 9 (1):357-381
- Alheid G, Heimer L, Switzer R (1990) Basal ganglia. The human nervous system Academic Press, San Diego:pp. 438–532
- Apicella P, Ravel S, Deffains M, Legallet E (2011) The role of striatal tonically active neurons in reward prediction error signaling during instrumental task performance. Journal of Neuroscience 31 (4):1507-1515
- Balleine BW, Delgado MR, Hikosaka O (2007) The role of the dorsal striatum in reward and decision-making. Journal of Neuroscience 27 (31):8161-8165
- Balsters JH, Zerbi V, Sallet J, Wenderoth N, Mars RB (2020) Primate homologs of mouse cortico-striatal circuits. Elife 9:e53680
- Barbagallo G, Caligiuri ME, Arabia G, Cherubini A, Lupo A, Nisticò R, Salsone M, Novellino F, Morelli M, Cascini GL (2017) Structural connectivity differences in motor network between tremor-dominant and nontremor Parkinson's disease. Human brain mapping 38 (9):4716-4729
- Barger N, Hanson KL, Teffer K, Schenker-Ahmed NM, Semendeferi K (2014) Evidence for evolutionary specialization in human limbic structures. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience 8:277
- Barnes KA, Cohen AL, Power JD, Nelson SM, Dosenbach YB, Miezin FM, Petersen SE, Schlaggar BL (2010) Identifying basal ganglia divisions in individuals using resting-state functional connectivity MRI. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience 4:18
- Behrens T, Johansen-Berg H, Woolrich M, Smith S, Wheeler-Kingshott C, Boulby P, Barker G, Sillery E, Sheehan K, Ciccarelli O (2003) Non-invasive mapping of connections between human thalamus and cortex using diffusion imaging. Nature Neuroscience 6 (7):750-757
- Betarbet R, Turner R, Chockkan V, DeLong MR, Allers KA, Walters J, Levey AI, Greenamyre JT (1997) Dopaminergic neurons intrinsic to the primate striatum. Journal of Neuroscience 17 (17):6761-6768
- Brisch R, Saniotis A, Wolf R, Bielau H, Bernstein H-G, Steiner J, Bogerts B, Braun K, Jankowski Z, Kumaratilake J (2014) The role of dopamine in schizophrenia from a neurobiological and evolutionary perspective: old fashioned, but still in vogue. Frontiers in Psychiatry 5:47
- Burton AC, Nakamura K, Roesch MR (2015) From ventral-medial to dorsal-lateral striatum: neural correlates of reward-guided decision-making. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 117:51-59
- Cardinal RN, Parkinson JA, Hall J, Everitt BJ (2002) Emotion and motivation: the role of the amygdala, ventral striatum, and prefrontal cortex. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 26 (3):321-352
- Carlén M (2017) What constitutes the prefrontal cortex? Science 358 (6362):478-482
- Carpenter MB (1981) Anatomy of the corpus striatum and brain stem integrating systems. Handbook of Physiology 2 (Part 2):947-995
- Castner SA, Goldman-Rakic PS, Williams GV (2004) Animal models of working memory: insights for targeting cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology 174 (1):111-125
- Cauda F, D'Agata F, Sacco K, Duca S, Geminiani G, Vercelli A (2011) Functional connectivity of the insula in the resting brain. NeuroImage 55 (1):8-23
- Cenci MA, Crossman AR (2018) Animal models of l-dopa-induced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease. Movement Disorders 33 (6):889-899
- Chase HW, Grace AA, Fox PT, Phillips ML, Eickhoff SB (2020) Functional differentiation in the human ventromedial frontal lobe: A data-driven parcellation. Human brain mapping 41 (12):3266-3283

- Choi EY, Tanimura Y, Vage PR, Yates EH, Haber SN (2017) Convergence of prefrontal and parietal anatomical projections in a connectional hub in the striatum. Neuroimage 146:821-832
- Choi EY, Yeo BT, Buckner RL (2012) The organization of the human striatum estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. Journal of Neurophysiology 108 (8):2242-2263
- Choudhury GR, Daadi MM (2018) Charting the onset of Parkinson-like motor and non-motor symptoms in nonhuman primate model of Parkinson's disease. PloS one 13 (8):e0202770
- Crippa A, Cerliani L, Nanetti L, Roerdink JB (2011) Heuristics for connectivity-based brain parcellation of SMA/pre-SMA through force-directed graph layout. NeuroImage 54 (3):2176-2184
- Dauer W, Przedborski S (2003) Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. Neuron 39 (6):889-909
- Deen B, Pitskel NB, Pelphrey KA (2011) Three systems of insular functional connectivity identified with cluster analysis. Cerebral Cortex 21 (7):1498-1506
- Doi T, Fan Y, Gold JI, Ding L (2020) The caudate nucleus contributes causally to decisions that balance reward and uncertain visual information. ELife 9:e56694
- Draganski B, Kherif F, Klöppel S, Cook PA, Alexander DC, Parker GJ, Deichmann R, Ashburner J, Frackowiak RS (2008) Evidence for segregated and integrative connectivity patterns in the human basal ganglia. Journal of Neuroscience 28 (28):7143-7152
- Eickhoff SB, Bzdok D, Laird AR, Roski C, Caspers S, Zilles K, Fox PT (2011) Co-activation patterns distinguish cortical modules, their connectivity and functional differentiation. NeuroImage 57 (3):938-949
- Eickhoff SB, Thirion B, Varoquaux G, Bzdok D (2015) Connectivity-based parcellation: Critique and implications. Human Brain Mapping 36 (12):4771-4792
- Eickhoff SB, Yeo BT, Genon S (2018) Imaging-based parcellations of the human brain. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 19 (11):672-686
- Fan L, Li H, Zhuo J, Zhang Y, Wang J, Chen L, Yang Z, Chu C, Xie S, Laird AR (2016) The human brainnetome atlas: a new brain atlas based on connectional architecture. Cerebral cortex 26 (8):3508-3526
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD (2009) The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia, revisited. Schizophrenia Bulletin 35 (3):528-548
- Fornito A, Yücel M, Patti J, Wood S, Pantelis C (2009) Mapping grey matter reductions in schizophrenia: an anatomical likelihood estimation analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. Schizophrenia Research 108 (1-3):104-113
- Gabasova E, Reid J, Wernisch L (2017) Clusternomics: Integrative context-dependent clustering for heterogeneous datasets. PLoS computational biology 13 (10):e1005781
- Genon S, Reid A, Langner R, Amunts K, Eickhoff SB (2018a) How to characterize the function of a brain region. Trends in cognitive sciences 22 (4):350-364
- Genon S, Reid A, Li H, Fan L, Müller VI, Cieslik EC, Hoffstaedter F, Langner R, Grefkes C, Laird AR (2018b) The heterogeneity of the left dorsal premotor cortex evidenced by multimodal connectivity-based parcellation and functional characterization. Neuroimage 170:400-411
- Grace AA, Floresco SB, Goto Y, Lodge DJ (2007) Regulation of firing of dopaminergic neurons and control of goal-directed behaviors. Trends in Neurosciences 30 (5):220-227
- Grahn JA, Parkinson JA, Owen AM (2008) The cognitive functions of the caudate nucleus. Progress in Neurobiology 86 (3):141-155
- Haber SN (2003) The primate basal ganglia: parallel and integrative networks. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy 26 (4):317-330
- Haber SN, Kim K-S, Mailly P, Calzavara R (2006) Reward-related cortical inputs define a large striatal region in primates that interface with associative cortical connections, providing a substrate for incentive-based learning. Journal of Neuroscience 26 (32):8368-8376
- Haber SN, Knutson B (2010) The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging.

Neuropsychopharmacology 35 (1):4-26

- Hardman CD, Henderson JM, Finkelstein DI, Horne MK, Paxinos G, Halliday GM (2002) Comparison of the basal ganglia in rats, marmosets, macaques, baboons, and humans: volume and neuronal number for the output, internal relay, and striatal modulating nuclei. Journal of Comparative Neurology 445 (3):238-255
- Hartwigsen G, Neef NE, Camilleri JA, Margulies DS, Eickhoff SB (2019) Functional segregation of the right inferior frontal gyrus: evidence from coactivation-based parcellation. Cerebral Cortex 29 (4):1532-1546
- Hassani OK, Cromwell HC, Schultz W (2001) Influence of expectation of different rewards on behavior-related neuronal activity in the striatum. Journal of neurophysiology 85 (6):2477-2489
- He Z, Sheng W, Lu F, Long Z, Han S, Pang Y, Chen Y, Luo W, Yu Y, Nan X (2019) Altered resting-state cerebral blood flow and functional connectivity of striatum in bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 90:177-185
- Helmich RC, Derikx LC, Bakker M, Scheeringa R, Bloem BR, Toni I (2010) Spatial remapping of corticostriatal connectivity in Parkinson's disease. Cerebral Cortex 20 (5):1175-1186
- Hiebert NM, Owen AM, Seergobin KN, MacDonald PA (2017) Dorsal striatum mediates deliberate decision making, not late-stage, stimulus-response learning. Human brain mapping 38 (12):6133-6156
- Hikosaka O, Kim HF, Yasuda M, Yamamoto S (2014) Basal ganglia circuits for reward value–guided behavior. Annual review of neuroscience 37:289-306
- Hikosaka O, Sakamoto M, Usui S (1989) Functional properties of monkey caudate neurons. III. Activities related to expectation of target and reward. Journal of neurophysiology 61 (4):814-832
- Histed MH, Pasupathy A, Miller EK (2009) Learning substrates in the primate prefrontal cortex and striatum: sustained activity related to successful actions. Neuron 63 (2):244-253
- Holcomb HH, Cascella NG, Thaker GK, Medoff DR (1996) Functional sites of neuroleptic drug action in the human brain: PET/FDG studies with and without haloperidol. The American Journal of Psychiatry 153 (1):41–49
- Hollerman JR, Tremblay L, Schultz W (1998) Influence of reward expectation on behavior-related neuronal activity in primate striatum. Journal of Neurophysiology 80 (2):947-963
- Hou Y, Luo C, Yang J, Song W, Ou R, Liu W, Gong Q, Shang H (2016) A resting-state fMRI study on early-stage drug-naïve Parkinson's disease patients with drooling. Neuroscience letters 634:119-125
- Howes OD, Kapur S (2009) The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III—the final common pathway. Schizophrenia Bulletin 35 (3):549-562
- Janssen RJ, Jylänki P, Kessels RP, van Gerven MA (2015) Probabilistic model-based functional parcellation reveals a robust, fine-grained subdivision of the striatum. NeuroImage 119:398-405
- Jarbo K, Verstynen TD (2015) Converging structural and functional connectivity of orbitofrontal, dorsolateral prefrontal, and posterior parietal cortex in the human striatum. Journal of Neuroscience 35 (9):3865-3878
- Jaspers E, Balsters JH, Kassraian Fard P, Mantini D, Wenderoth N (2017) Corticostriatal connectivity fingerprints: Probability maps based on resting-state functional connectivity. Human brain mapping 38 (3):1478-1491
- Jia X, Liang P, Li Y, Shi L, Wang D, Li K (2015) Longitudinal study of gray matter changes in Parkinson disease. American Journal of Neuroradiology 36 (12):2219-2226
- Johansen-Berg H, Behrens T, Robson M, Drobnjak I, Rushworth M, Brady J, Smith S, Higham D, Matthews P (2004) Changes in connectivity profiles define functionally distinct regions in human medial frontal cortex. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101 (36):13335-13340
- Johansen-Berg H, Rushworth MF (2009) Using diffusion imaging to study human connectional anatomy. Annual Review of Neuroscience 32:75-94

Jones DK (2008) Studying connections in the living human brain with diffusion MRI. Cortex 44 (8):936-952

- Jung WH, Jang JH, Park JW, Kim E, Goo E-H, Im O-S, Kwon JS (2014) Unravelling the intrinsic functional organization of the human striatum: a parcellation and connectivity study based on resting-state fMRI. PLoS One 9 (9):e106768
- Kelly C, Toro R, Di Martino A, Cox CL, Bellec P, Castellanos FX, Milham MP (2012) A convergent functional architecture of the insula emerges across imaging modalities. NeuroImage 61 (4):1129-1142
- Kim J-H, Lee J-M, Jo HJ, Kim SH, Lee JH, Kim ST, Seo SW, Cox RW, Na DL, Kim SI (2010) Defining functional SMA and pre-SMA subregions in human MFC using resting state fMRI: functional connectivity-based parcellation method. NeuroImage 49 (3):2375-2386
- Kirino E, Tanaka S, Fukuta M, Inami R, Inoue R, Aoki S (2019) Functional connectivity of the caudate in schizophrenia evaluated with simultaneous resting-state functional MRI and electroencephalography recordings. Neuropsychobiology 77 (4):165-175
- Klein JC, Behrens TE, Robson MD, Mackay CE, Higham DJ, Johansen-Berg H (2007) Connectivity-based parcellation of human cortex using diffusion MRI: establishing reproducibility, validity and observer independence in BA 44/45 and SMA/pre-SMA. NeuroImage 34 (1):204-211
- Kurth F, Zilles K, Fox PT, Laird AR, Eickhoff SB (2010) A link between the systems: functional differentiation and integration within the human insula revealed by meta-analysis. Brain Structure and Function 214 (5-6):519-534
- Leh SE, Ptito A, Chakravarty MM, Strafella AP (2007) Fronto-striatal connections in the human brain: a probabilistic diffusion tractography study. Neuroscience Letters 419 (2):113-118
- Lewis SJ, Dove A, Robbins TW, Barker RA, Owen AM (2004) Striatal contributions to working memory: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study in humans. European Journal of Neuroscience 19 (3):755-760
- Li A, Zalesky A, Yue W, Howes O, Yan H, Liu Y, Fan L, Whitaker KJ, Xu K, Rao G (2020) A neuroimaging biomarker for striatal dysfunction in schizophrenia. Nature Medicine 26 (4):558-565
- Liu H, Qin W, Qi H, Jiang T, Yu C (2015) Parcellation of the human orbitofrontal cortex based on gray matter volume covariance. Human Brain Mapping 36 (2):538-548
- Liu X, Eickhoff SB, Hoffstaedter F, Genon S, Caspers S, Reetz K, Dogan I, Eickhoff CR, Chen J, Caspers J (2020) Joint Multi-modal Parcellation of the Human Striatum: Functions and Clinical Relevance. Neuroscience bulletin:1-14
- Lohrenz T, Kishida KT, Montague PR (2016) BOLD and its connection to dopamine release in human striatum: a cross-cohort comparison. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 371 (1705):20150352
- Luo C, Song W, Chen Q, Zheng Z, Chen K, Cao B, Yang J, Li J, Huang X, Gong Q (2014) Reduced functional connectivity in early-stage drug-naive Parkinson's disease: a resting-state fMRI study. Neurobiology of aging 35 (2):431-441
- Mai JK, Paxinos G (2011) The human nervous system. Academic press,
- Marchand WR, Lee JN, Suchy Y, Garn C, Chelune G, Johnson S, Wood N (2013) Functional architecture of the cortico-basal ganglia circuitry during motor task execution: Correlations of strength of functional connectivity with neuropsychological task performance among female subjects. Human Brain Mapping 34 (5):1194-1207
- Marchand WR, Lee JN, Thatcher JW, Hsu EW, Rashkin E, Suchy Y, Chelune G, Starr J, Barbera SS (2008) Putamen coactivation during motor task execution. NeuroReport 19 (9):957-960
- Mars RB, Sotiropoulos SN, Passingham RE, Sallet J, Verhagen L, Khrapitchev AA, Sibson N, Jbabdi S (2018) Whole brain comparative anatomy using connectivity blueprints. Elife 7:e35237
- McCutcheon RA, Abi-Dargham A, Howes OD (2019) Schizophrenia, dopamine and the striatum: from biology

to symptoms. Trends in neurosciences 42 (3):205-220

- Michely J, Volz LJ, Barbe MT, Hoffstaedter F, Viswanathan S, Timmermann L, Eickhoff SB, Fink GR, Grefkes C (2015) Dopaminergic modulation of motor network dynamics in Parkinson's disease. Brain 138 (3):664-678
- Milham M, Petkov CI, Margulies DS, Schroeder CE, Basso MA, Belin P, Fair DA, Fox A, Kastner S, Mars RB (2020) Accelerating the evolution of nonhuman primate neuroimaging. Neuron 105 (4):600-603
- Milham MP, Ai L, Koo B, Xu T, Amiez C, Balezeau F, Baxter MG, Blezer EL, Brochier T, Chen A (2018) An open resource for non-human primate imaging. Neuron 100 (1):61-74. e62
- Mishra A, Rogers BP, Chen LM, Gore JC (2014) Functional connectivity-based parcellation of amygdala using self-organized mapping: A data driven approach. Human Brain Mapping 35 (4):1247-1260
- Moerel M, De Martino F, Formisano E (2014) An anatomical and functional topography of human auditory cortical areas. Frontiers in Neuroscience 8:225
- Moustafa AA, Gluck MA (2011) Computational cognitive models of prefrontal-striatal-hippocampal interactions in Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia. Neural Networks 24 (6):575-591
- Mucci A, Dima D, Soricelli A, Volpe U, Bucci P, Frangou S, Prinster A, Salvatore M, Galderisi S, Maj M (2015) Is avolition in schizophrenia associated with a deficit of dorsal caudate activity? A functional magnetic resonance imaging study during reward anticipation and feedback. Psychological medicine 45 (8):1765-1778
- Nakano K, Kayahara T, Tsutsumi T, Ushiro H (2000) Neural circuits and functional organization of the striatum. Journal of Neurology 247 (5):V1-V15
- Namba M (1957) Cytoarchitektonische untersuchungen am striatum. Journal für Hirnforschung 3:24-48
- Nanetti L, Cerliani L, Gazzola V, Renken R, Keysers C (2009) Group analyses of connectivity-based cortical parcellation using repeated k-means clustering. NeuroImage 47 (4):1666-1677
- Neggers SF, Zandbelt BB, Schall MS, Schall JD (2015) Comparative diffusion tractography of corticostriatal motor pathways reveals differences between humans and macaques. Journal of Neurophysiology 113 (7):2164-2172
- Owen A, James M, Leigh P, Summers B, Marsden C, Quinn Na, Lange KW, Robbins T (1992) Fronto-striatal cognitive deficits at different stages of Parkinson's disease. Brain 115 (6):1727-1751
- Pauli WM, O'Reilly RC, Yarkoni T, Wager TD (2016) Regional specialization within the human striatum for diverse psychological functions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113 (7):1907-1912
- Pessoa L (2009) How do emotion and motivation direct executive control? Trends in Cognitive Sciences 13 (4):160-166
- Plachti A, Eickhoff SB, Hoffstaedter F, Patil KR, Laird AR, Fox PT, Amunts K, Genon S (2019) Multimodal parcellations and extensive behavioral profiling tackling the hippocampus gradient. Cerebral cortex 29 (11):4595-4612
- Qiu P, Jiang J, Liu Z, Cai Y, Huang T, Wang Y, Liu Q, Nie Y, Liu F, Cheng J (2019) BMAL1 knockout macaque monkeys display reduced sleep and psychiatric disorders. National Science Review 6 (1):87-100
- Ray KL, Zald DH, Bludau S, Riedel MC, Bzdok D, Yanes J, Falcone K, Amunts K, Fox PT, Eickhoff SB (2015) Co-activation based parcellation of the human frontal pole. NeuroImage 123:200-211
- Reuter N, Genon S, Masouleh SK, Hoffstaedter F, Liu X, Kalenscher T, Eickhoff SB, Patil KR (2020) CBPtools: a Python package for regional connectivity-based parcellation. Brain Structure and Function 225:1261-1275
- Robinson JL, Laird AR, Glahn DC, Blangero J, Sanghera MK, Pessoa L, Fox PM, Uecker A, Friehs G, Young KA (2012) The functional connectivity of the human caudate: an application of meta-analytic connectivity modeling with behavioral filtering. NeuroImage 60 (1):117-129
- Salvador R, Sarró S, Gomar JJ, Ortiz-Gil J, Vila F, Capdevila A, Bullmore E, McKenna PJ, Pomarol-Clotet E

(2010) Overall brain connectivity maps show cortico-subcortical abnormalities in schizophrenia. Human Brain Mapping 31 (12):2003-2014

- Samuel M, Ceballos-Baumann A, Blin J, Uema T, Boecker H, Passingham R, Brooks D (1997) Evidence for lateral premotor and parietal overactivity in Parkinson's disease during sequential and bimanual movements. A PET study. Brain: a journal of neurology 120 (6):963-976
- Santos LR, Rosati AG (2015) The evolutionary roots of human decision making. Annual Review of Psychology 66:321-347
- Seeman P, Niznik HB (1990) Dopamine receptors and transporters in Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia. The FASEB Journal 4 (10):2737-2744
- Simpson EH, Kellendonk C, Kandel E (2010) A possible role for the striatum in the pathogenesis of the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. Neuron 65 (5):585-596
- Smaers JB, Gómez-Robles A, Parks AN, Sherwood CC (2017) Exceptional evolutionary expansion of prefrontal cortex in great apes and humans. Current Biology 27 (5):714-720
- Solano-Castiella E, Anwander A, Lohmann G, Weiss M, Docherty C, Geyer S, Reimer E, Friederici AD, Turner R (2010) Diffusion tensor imaging segments the human amygdala in vivo. NeuroImage 49 (4):2958-2965
- Stephens B, Mueller A, Shering A, Hood S, Taggart P, Arbuthnott G, Bell J, Kilford L, Kingsbury A, Daniel S (2005) Evidence of a breakdown of corticostriatal connections in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 132 (3):741-754
- Thirion B, Varoquaux G, Dohmatob E, Poline J-B (2014) Which fMRI clustering gives good brain parcellations? Frontiers in Neuroscience 8:167
- Torres US, Duran FL, Schaufelberger MS, Crippa JA, Louzã MR, Sallet PC, Kanegusuku CY, Elkis H, Gattaz WF, Bassitt DP (2016) Patterns of regional gray matter loss at different stages of schizophrenia: a multisite, cross-sectional VBM study in first-episode and chronic illness. NeuroImage: Clinical 12:1-15
- Tziortzi AC, Haber SN, Searle GE, Tsoumpas C, Long CJ, Shotbolt P, Douaud G, Jbabdi S, Behrens TE, Rabiner EA (2013) Connectivity-based functional analysis of dopamine release in the striatum using diffusionweighted MRI and positron emission tomography. Cerebral Cortex 24 (5):1165-1177
- Tziortzi AC, Haber SN, Searle GE, Tsoumpas C, Long CJ, Shotbolt P, Douaud G, Jbabdi S, Behrens TE, Rabiner EA (2014) Connectivity-based functional analysis of dopamine release in the striatum using diffusionweighted MRI and positron emission tomography. Cerebral Cortex 24 (5):1165-1177
- Van Den Heuvel MP, Pol HEH (2010) Exploring the brain network: a review on resting-state fMRI functional connectivity. European Neuropsychopharmacology 20 (8):519-534
- van den Heuvel MP, Scholtens LH, Barrett LF, Hilgetag CC, de Reus MA (2015) Bridging cytoarchitectonics and connectomics in human cerebral cortex. Journal of Neuroscience 35 (41):13943-13948
- Vanduffel W, Zhu Q, Orban GA (2014) Monkey cortex through fMRI glasses. Neuron 83 (3):533-550

Watanabe K, Lauwereyns J, Hikosaka O (2003) Neural correlates of rewarded and unrewarded eye movements in the primate caudate nucleus. Journal of Neuroscience 23 (31):10052-10057

- Wiegell MR, Tuch DS, Larsson HB, Wedeen VJ (2003) Automatic segmentation of thalamic nuclei from diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging. NeuroImage 19 (2):391-401
- Wu T, Wang L, Chen Y, Zhao C, Li K, Chan P (2009) Changes of functional connectivity of the motor network in the resting state in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience letters 460 (1):6-10
- Xia X, Fan L, Cheng C, Eickhoff SB, Chen J, Li H, Jiang T (2017) Multimodal connectivity-based parcellation reveals a shell-core dichotomy of the human nucleus accumbens. Human brain mapping 38 (8):3878-3898
- Xia X, Fan L, Cheng C, Yao R, Deng H, Zhao D, Li H, Jiang T (2019) Interspecies Differences in the Connectivity of Ventral Striatal Components Between Humans and Macaques. Frontiers in neuroscience

13:623

- Xu J, Wang C, Xu Z, Li T, Chen F, Chen K, Gao J, Wang J, Hu Q (2020) Specific functional connectivity patterns of middle temporal gyrus subregions in children and adults with autism spectrum disorder. Autism Research 13 (3):410-422
- Xu J, Zhang J, Wang J, Li G, Hu Q, Zhang Y (2016a) Abnormal fronto-striatal functional connectivity in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience letters 613:66-71
- Xu T, Sturgeon D, Ramirez JS, Froudist-Walsh S, Margulies DS, Schroeder CE, Fair DA, Milham MP (2019) Interindividual Variability of Functional Connectivity in Awake and Anesthetized Rhesus Macaque Monkeys. Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging 4 (6):543-553
- Xu Y, Yang J, Hu X, Shang H (2016b) Voxel-based meta-analysis of gray matter volume reductions associated with cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. Journal of neurology 263 (6):1178-1187
- Zhai S, Tanimura A, Graves SM, Shen W, Surmeier DJ (2018) Striatal synapses, circuits, and Parkinson's disease. Current opinion in neurobiology 48:9-16
- Zhang Y, Caspers S, Fan L, Fan Y, Song M, Liu C, Mo Y, Roski C, Eickhoff S, Amunts K (2015) Robust brain parcellation using sparse representation on resting-state fMRI. Brain Structure and Function 220 (6):3565-3579

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Simon B. Eickhoff, who provided me this opportunity to study in his institution. His enthusiastic attitude towards academics impresses me deeply. I will never forget his great help and support. Without his meticulous guidance, all studies in this thesis would undoubtedly never achieve.

A similar gratitude to my second supervisor, Professor Svenja Caspers. She gave me many constructive suggestions for my PhD project, and help me a lot to revise the manuscript. She is an expert neuroanatomist. She taught me the anatomical knowledge of the striatum and the nomenclature of the striatal subregions.

I also would like to thank my group leader, Dr. Kaustubh R. Patil, whose patient instruction are beneficial to me a lot. It's my great pleasure to work in his group. He gave me great instructions throughout the research methods, code development and manuscript writing. I could not finish my PhD project without his patient guidance and encouragement.

Particular thanks go to my family. My son was born in 2018 when I was in the second year of PhD student. My parents unhesitatingly quit their job and help me and my wife to take care of my baby. I know both of you have sacrificed many things for me, thanks very much! Thank to my wife, you often encouraged me when I was down. Thank you for being with our son when I was absent. I am grateful for what you did to me.

Of course, I want to thank my colleagues and friends who have provided me great support and help when I worked and lived in Germany. Also, thanks to the financial support from the program of China Scholarships Council.

I have the challenging and enriching four years in Germany, it was undoubtedly wonderful! Thank you to everyone I have met.